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          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Good morning,

          3  ladies and gentlemen. I am Council Member Steve

          4  DiBrienza, and I am the Chair of this Committee, the

          5  Committee on General Welfare. I am joined already

          6  this morning by Council Members Malave-Dilan, the

          7  Reverend Lloyd Henry, Mike Abel. Before we are done

          8  we expect to be joined by the balance of the

          9  Committee, Council Members Eldridge, Linares,

         10  Watkins, Perkins and Rodriguez. And there may be

         11  other members who will join us, there are several

         12  other meetings going on at the same time, so it is

         13  not uncommon for members to be at part of a meeting,

         14  have to attend part of another and then return to

         15  the original meeting.

         16                 Today's hearing is on Intro. 354-A, A

         17  simply indicating that it is an amended version of

         18  the bill that was twice the subject of hearings in

         19  this Committee the first time it was one of many

         20  ideas discussed as ways to create jobs, entry level

         21  jobs in particular, throughout the economy of this

         22  City so that, you know, for the larger issue we

         23  might be more successful in moving people from

         24  welfare to work.

         25                 The second time it was before this
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          2  Committee it was specifically on Intro. 354, the

          3  transitional jobs bill. And since that time the

          4  Council, its attorneys, interested parties, have

          5  looked at the bill, have looked at the legal

          6  language surrounding the bill and we have come up

          7  with an amended version, which is in a sense

          8  introduced or reintroduced here this morning, 354-A.

          9                 Now, let me just take a moment to

         10  clear the record on exactly what this transitional

         11  jobs bill might do, and perhaps more importantly

         12  what transitional jobs bills and programs are all

         13  about in many -- and they by the way exist in more

         14  and more cities and states across this country,

         15  notwithstanding the two local daily newspapers that

         16  wrote editorials that were both factually wrong and

         17  substantively off the mark. Transitional jobs bills,

         18  and transitional jobs programs are happening in

         19  cities and states around the country, cities and

         20  states, I might add, led by both democratic and

         21  republican law-makers. These are cutting edge,

         22  innovative programs, to assist those who are

         23  difficult to employ, move from welfare to work, not

         24  just from welfare to workfare, which this City is

         25  good at.
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          2                 Let me just give you some background.

          3  Pennsylvania, Republican Governor Ridge has just

          4  proposed creating 16,000 transitional-type jobs as

          5  part of his '99/'2000 budget proposal. Wisconsin is

          6  moving to this model of job creation and training

          7  where, again, Republican Governor Tommy Thompson has

          8  requested that local agencies be given the authority

          9  to create wage-paying jobs, as part of the Wisconsin

         10  Works Program.

         11                 Right here in New York State, as a

         12  result of the successful campaign and support of

         13  democratic Assemblyman Roberto Ramirez' Empire State

         14  Jobs Bill, Governor Pataki signed a pilot

         15  transitional jobs program into law at the end of

         16  Albany's most recent budget process. In other parts

         17  of the country this model, this emerging model is

         18  being used, similar programs variations on the theme

         19  of creating transitional jobs, Baltimore, Seattle,

         20  Detroit, Vermont, San Francisco and Ohio, this is

         21  the next step in welfare reform.

         22                 Let me just tell you a couple of

         23  other things. The Bipartisan US Conference of Mayors

         24  voted to officially endorse this kind of program in

         25  June of this year, citing research which
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          2  demonstrates how publicly funded transitional jobs

          3  can boost the employability of disadvantaged

          4  individuals.

          5                 Finally, if you are wondering about

          6  the Committee and our feeling, you know, and members

          7  may feel more strongly or less strongly on any

          8  point, but generally I think the belief is that this

          9  program, this type of transitional jobs program,

         10  will better prepare the individuals involved for

         11  self-sufficiency and independence than simply moving

         12  people from welfare to workfare.

         13                 Participants, according to our

         14  proposed law, must interview and compete for the

         15  positions in the transitional jobs program, when

         16  participation begins individuals leave welfare from

         17  day one to earn a paycheck, not a welfare check. The

         18  participants are eligible for expanded earned income

         19  tax credits and must balance education and training

         20  with their full-time real job, clearly after a

         21  period of up to 18 months, we believe that the

         22  experience of that job, of that reality will better

         23  prepare folks for a permanent job.

         24                 Two other issues. The cost people

         25  talk about without any sense of the facts - the
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          2  costs will be astronomical. Well, the cost in New

          3  York City of a transitional jobs program is

          4  virtually offset by available funding streams,

          5  10,000 people who leave the roles, the money you do

          6  not pay them in welfare is part of how you pay for

          7  this program. The federal welfare to work funds,

          8  over $80 million already given to New York for that

          9  purpose. The TANF surplus, or small part of it,

         10  since the surplus is well over a billion dollars,

         11  and the earned income tax credit.

         12                 In short, the cost to New York City

         13  for implementing the Transitional Jobs Program we

         14  estimate by our financial analysts to be

         15  approximately $20 million more, over the five years,

         16  than funding the same number of WEP, Work Experience

         17  Participants, in the existing program.

         18  Twenty-million dollars, spread over five years, for

         19  10,000 people to be employed from day one, earning a

         20  paycheck, not a welfare check. From sources provided

         21  in large measure by the federal government for this

         22  purpose.

         23                 Finally, it is a fiction to say, as

         24  some will argue, these jobs are unnecessary. Let's

         25  take a close look at what is going on in this City.
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          2  A clear disparity between the number of entry level

          3  jobs created each year, most estimates around

          4  $25,000, and the number of individuals who either

          5  are unemployed or leaving public assistance and

          6  looking for those entry level jobs, upwards of

          7  40,000 annually.

          8                 Now, you don't have to be the best

          9  mathematician in the world to figure if there are

         10  25,000 jobs and 40,000 job seekers, that we have a

         11  jobs gap.

         12                 Making a transitional employment

         13  program all the more necessary if hard to employ

         14  individuals are to have a shot at their first job

         15  and a step up and out of poverty.

         16                 In addition, because this is also

         17  raised, you know, this talk of how many new jobs it

         18  created through the various new and emerging

         19  industries in this City, and while that is clearly

         20  the case, in terms of local economies expanding,

         21  whether fair or not, and I dare say it might even be

         22  most, welfare recipients face a real skills gap in

         23  terms of what is required for employment in many of

         24  these industries. And lastly, despite what appears

         25  to be the Administration's opposition to this
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          2  approach, notwithstanding the facts I have just

          3  presented, notwithstanding what is happening in

          4  cities and states around this country, this

          5  transitional jobs bill has brought together a

          6  coalition of New Yorkers who agree, this is the

          7  better way to pursue the next steps of welfare

          8  reform, labor, religious, community organizations,

          9  joint business leaders, to support this bill, and I

         10  look forward to conducting this hearing on 354-A,

         11  accepting any and all comments about the content of

         12  the amended version, having the lawyers go through

         13  the process yet again, and then, with the support of

         14  the leadership of this Council, move the

         15  legislation, having New York City take its rightful

         16  place among those cities and states I have

         17  mentioned, in pursuing this strategy, to move people

         18  not from welfare to workfare, which may or may not

         19  have had to have been step one, we could debate that

         20  some other time, but moving people from welfare to

         21  work.

         22                 With that, we will take our

         23  witnesses.

         24                 First, this morning, Lee Saunders,

         25  the head of DC 37 and Michael Hood, President of
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          2  1505, a local within DC 37. We welcome you to the

          3  hearing and remind everyone who is with us, and for

          4  those who may not have been here before, all

          5  witnesses who appear before the Committee are first

          6  sworn by Counsel. I direct your attention to Counsel

          7  of the Committee.

          8                 MR. NEWMAN: Gentlemen, please raise

          9  your right hand.

         10                 Do you swear or affirm that the

         11  testimony you are about to give is the truth?

         12                 MR. SAUNDERS: I do.

         13                 MR. HOOD: I do.

         14                 MR. NEWMAN: Please state your names

         15  and affiliations for the record.

         16                 MR. SAUNDERS: Lee Saunders,

         17  Administrator, District Council 37, AFSCME AFL-CIO.

         18                 MR. HOOD: Michael Hood, President of

         19  Local 1505, DC 37, AFSCME, AFL-CIO.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Mr. Saunders,

         21  welcome. And you can begin.

         22                 MR. SAUNDERS: Thank you.

         23                 Mr. Chairman, members of the

         24  Committee, my name is Lee Saunders, I am the

         25  Administrator of District Council 37 AFSCME.
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          2                 I am here today on behalf of the

          3  125,000 workers represented by DC 37 and its 56

          4  affiliated local unions, to reiterate our support

          5  for the transitional jobs bill and its amended form,

          6  Intro. 354-A.

          7                 We support this bill because the

          8  City's Work Experience Program, or WEP, has failed

          9  to lead to permanent, full-time, unsubsidized

         10  employment for most participants.

         11                 Moreover, the WEP program has led to

         12  significant reductions in full-time City jobs

         13  represented by DC 37 and other unions.

         14                 For welfare reform to truly succeed,

         15  recipients must move into wage-paying jobs and

         16  achieve economic independence. Caseload reduction

         17  should not be the only measure of success. The City

         18  has not promoted other measures of success. To date

         19  the City has made little effort to develop or

         20  analyze indicators of former participants economic

         21  employment status.

         22                 From our members' observations and

         23  from our own organizing efforts, we know that WEP

         24  does not help welfare recipients assigned to City

         25  agencies transition effectively to paid employment
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          2  and an improved standard of living.

          3                 WEP participants have no work place

          4  protections or employment benefits. Our union has

          5  long considered this untenable.

          6                 There are WEP participants who have

          7  been assigned to the Parks Department for years.

          8  What kind of welfare to work program is that?

          9                 Of the thousands of WEPs assigned to

         10  the Parks Department, only 15 had gotten full-time

         11  permanent jobs in that agency as of October 1996.

         12  Only 15. And not a single WEP was hired by the Parks

         13  Department as a result of their work experience

         14  during 1998 or so far in 1999.

         15                 For most participants WEP is either a

         16  revolving door, leading nowhere, or just a pure dead

         17  end.

         18                 The WEP program has resulted in the

         19  elimination of thousands of City jobs. Between

         20  December 1993 and November 1998, the number of

         21  civilian employees declined by about 15,000 in

         22  civilian agencies, and most of the lost jobs were

         23  entry level positions.

         24                 DC 37 estimates that the loss of 800

         25  jobs in the Parks Department and 1,600 jobs in HRA,
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          2  that is the direct result of the WEP Program. The

          3  union has filed lawsuits about displacement in HHC,

          4  the Parks Department, the Department of Sanitation,

          5  HRA and in the Administration of Children's

          6  Services.

          7                 The WEP Program has not reduced

          8  poverty. A New York State survey found that only 29

          9  percent of former recipients found full or part-time

         10  jobs, which paid $100 or more per week, in the first

         11  three months after leaving the rolls.

         12                 HRA does not track recipients who

         13  leave the welfare rolls. The WEP program has reduced

         14  the welfare rolls by sanctioning participants up to

         15  as many as 5,000 per month, not by finding

         16  participants' jobs that lead to self-sufficiency.

         17                 Furthermore the WEP program has

         18  failed to assure access to affordable quality child

         19  care for participants.

         20                 The City must develop innovative

         21  programs that move participants into unsubsidized

         22  employment. Mr. Chairman, you just mentioned a few,

         23  Detroit, San Francisco, Philadelphia, Indianapolis,

         24  Baltimore, Washington State and Vermont have

         25  established transitional work programs as
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          2  alternatives to workfare. Programs that this union,

          3  AFSCME has worked with government agencies across

          4  the country to implement.

          5                 The transitional jobs program

          6  proposed in Intro. 354-A is an overdue step this

          7  City must take. There are billions of dollars of

          8  federal welfare funds available nationally but

          9  neither New York City nor New York State are taking

         10  advantage of them to develop programs.

         11                 In fact, the WEP program has diverted

         12  energy and attention away from the welfare to work

         13  program, which would be much more productive for

         14  participants.

         15                 Major funding sources include federal

         16  TANF block grant funds. As a matter of fact, New

         17  York State has at least $5 million sitting unused.

         18                 US Department of Labor Welfare to

         19  Work grants, food stamps, employment and training

         20  programs, as well as funds from the U.S. Department

         21  of Housing and Urban Development, Commerce and

         22  Justice.

         23                 The advantages of a transitional jobs

         24  model of workfare are that participants receive

         25  wages and are part of the regular workforce with all
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          2  of the benefits and protections that flow from that

          3  status, including union representation rights.

          4                 Studies show that private employers

          5  want the people they hire to have paid work

          6  experience. This bill calls for supervised

          7  meaningful training, either in a classroom or on the

          8  job, to help participants enhance their skills or

          9  learn new ones.

         10                 Incumbent workers will serve as

         11  mentors on a voluntary basis to smooth the

         12  transition to work, an approach that this union

         13  supports 100 percent.

         14                 Another advantage is that

         15  participants in transitional jobs will be providing

         16  invaluable services for our community.

         17                 New York City should invest in

         18  assuring those who are not now benefitting from the

         19  healthy economy have a larger stake in the City's

         20  economic future.

         21                 Under state and federal law, safety

         22  net assistance recipients are starting to lose

         23  eligibility for cash benefits and family assistance

         24  recipients start losing eligibility in two years.

         25                 There will not be enough entry level
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          2  jobs for the hundreds of thousands of unemployed and

          3  public assistance recipients who need them, unless a

          4  much more aggressive effort is applied to overcoming

          5  barriers to employment in creating jobs.

          6                 I urge this Committee to work with

          7  the entire City Council to get the transitional jobs

          8  program passed and implemented. It is the

          9  responsible way to achieve the welfare reform's

         10  stated goal of self-sufficiency.

         11                 It also represents an opportunity for

         12  some of the tens of thousands of WEP participants in

         13  City and non-profit agencies to achieve dignity, the

         14  simply dignity of a real job.

         15                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         16                 MR. HOOD: Good morning, Council

         17  Members. My name is Michael Hood. I am the President

         18  of Local 1505. I appreciate this opportunity to

         19  testify at the General Welfare Committee about the

         20  transitional job initiative, Intro. 354-A, the need

         21  for improving staffing at the Parks and Recreation

         22  Department and the impact of workfare on the City

         23  workforce.

         24                 Local 1505, an affiliate of District

         25  Council 37, represents approximately 1,100 City
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          2  Parks workers, Parks service workers, at the

          3  Department of Parks and Recreation and attendants

          4  and debris removers at the Department of Sanitation

          5  and the Department of Transportation. We are

          6  responsible for maintaining the City parks, New York

          7  City ferries, and the landfill on Staten Island,

          8  assuring they are safe and clean.

          9                 Over the past few years, the growth

         10  of the city's workforce program has coincided with

         11  the elimination of at least 20,000 positions from

         12  the City payroll. We don't believe it is a

         13  coincidence that a City use of a new class of

         14  exploited and forced laborers is increasing while

         15  the ranks of its unionized workforce is plummeting.

         16  This trend is the result of the public policy that

         17  aims to rely on cheaper workfare workers to provide

         18  municipal services at the expense of the city's

         19  unionized workers.

         20                 Over the past few years, Local 1505

         21  has seen its membership decline from 1,700 to around

         22  1,100, a drop that I attribute directly to the

         23  city's decision to deploy thousands of Work

         24  Experience Workers, known as WEPs, into the parks.

         25                 The WEPs have enabled the Parks
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          2  Department to keep its parks, playgrounds and other

          3  recreation facilities clean while downsizing its

          4  regular workers through attrition.

          5                 The municipal labor force made

          6  important sacrifices in order to help the City of

          7  New York make it through its fiscal troubles earlier

          8  in the decade. The City now enjoys a surplus of more

          9  than $2 billion. It is time for the City to pay back

         10  its workers for that sacrifice by using the surplus

         11  to provide career opportunities for its workers, who

         12  so often feel they are stuck in a dead-end job, in

         13  addition to providing full-time positions to

         14  workfare workers. We urge the City Council to push

         15  for a civil service test for the associate park

         16  service position, the creation of a civil service

         17  promotion list, promotions and the hiring of

         18  hundreds of seasonal employees into full-time city

         19  park worker positions.

         20                 We have a saying, "Don't get bitter,

         21  be better." We don't have to get bitter at the City.

         22  We just want better opportunities for our members

         23  and WEP workers.

         24                 I want to thank the City Council for

         25  this opportunity to testify. Please feel free to
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          2  contact me for any help in making sure this

          3  initiative becomes a local law.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: We have been

          5  joined, as I indicated and expected, by additional

          6  members of the Committee, Council Members Perkins

          7  and Rodriguez.

          8                 Let me, by way of thanking you for

          9  your testimony, I don't know if there are any

         10  questions, if you have a moment, but just to put one

         11  or two other things on the record.

         12                 My sense is at any given time there

         13  are somewhere around 5,000 Work Experience

         14  Participants assigned to the Parks Department.

         15                 MR. HOOD: It is a little ore than

         16  that. The numbers change regularly. People come in,

         17  they come out, it is a revolving door.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: You understand

         19  that if this transitional jobs program is adopted,

         20  that it does not in total replace the Work

         21  Experience Program, that that program continues, but

         22  there is an opportunity here for the City to create

         23  over the five years a total of 10,000 jobs, 7,000 in

         24  public sector, 3,000 in the private not-for-profit

         25  sector.
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          2                 MR. HOOD: Yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: By the way,

          4  there is in another Committee some legislation that

          5  exists that says in essence for those still in the

          6  Work Experience Program, you know, we are concerned

          7  about health and safety and working conditions and

          8  you should have certain rights to a more just

          9  experience, for whatever that experience is worth.

         10  So, I don't want anyone to think we have forgotten

         11  about that.

         12                 Lastly, I just want our understanding

         13  to be clear. The law contemplates not only current

         14  welfare recipients, but does allow for the

         15  possibility, in some cases I think it is about ten

         16  percent over the five years, folks who have been

         17  unemployed for a substantial amount of time. They

         18  may not have themselves been on the welfare system,

         19  they may have been unemployed. In other words, also

         20  part of that universe of folks looking for those

         21  entry level jobs that don't exist.

         22                 MR. HOOD: Correct.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I just wanted

         24  that to be clear.

         25                 Seeing no other questions, then we
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          2  thank you for your testimony.

          3                 I have to tell you, Mr. Saunders, I

          4  have done this and members of the Committee, some

          5  for the full six or six and a half years, some for

          6  less. I have been involved in these issues from the

          7  beginning in taking over this Committee. It is the

          8  last ten or 12 months where we have finally I think

          9  as a Committee and as a Council been able to break

         10  through the rhetoric and the repeated, if you will,

         11  positioning, where we are bringing people in to tell

         12  the horror stories and hearing from the other side,

         13  but still on that rhetoric level how okay things

         14  are. We have finally broken through that I think

         15  with this legislation by looking, working with a few

         16  others, looking at cities and states across this

         17  country, looking at a concrete way to accomplish the

         18  goals. And so we welcome your support, because I

         19  think once analyzed dispassionately, this is an

         20  incredibly important piece of legislation and we

         21  thank you for your support.

         22                 MR. SAUNDERS: Thank you for your

         23  continued support. Thank you, again.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Now, we have

         25  one set of witnesses, a panel, and then we will have
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          2  the Administration for their comments.

          3                 Now, I am not sure everyone on the

          4  panel has signed in, so if you can stand we can get

          5  you up here.

          6                 Liz Krueger. I think there are five,

          7  four or five people who are going to testify.

          8                 Doug Turetsky, I think you have some

          9  witnesses. Is there a Larry Holmes. Okay, I

         10  apologize, we normally have the names, each

         11  individual name, and we just had a coordinator

         12  saying that this is the panel of folks. Now, we know

         13  Ms. Krueger and we know Mr. Turetsky, and you will

         14  have to identify yourselves. I don't have your names

         15  in front of me.

         16                 But as with every witness who appears

         17  before this Committee, we ask you to direct your

         18  attention to the Counsel to the Committee and you

         19  have to either swear or affirm, depending on your

         20  own beliefs, before you begin.

         21                 MR. NEWMAN: Please raise your right

         22  hands.

         23                 Do you swear or affirm that the

         24  testimony you are about to give is the truth?

         25                 MS. KRUEGER: Yes.
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          2                 MS. LYLES: Yes.

          3                 MR. TURETSKY: Yes.

          4                 MS. ROSEMIN: Yes.

          5                 MR. NEWMAN: Starting from Ms.

          6  Krueger, please state your name and your

          7  affiliation.

          8                 MS. KRUEGER: Liz Krueger, I am the

          9  Associate Director of the Community Food Resource

         10  Center and also representing the New York City

         11  Coalition of Real Jobs.

         12                 MS. LYLES: My name is Ruby Lyles, I

         13  am here with WEP Workers Together.

         14                 MR. TURETSKY: My name is Doug

         15  Turetsky, and I am Director of Policy and Advocacy

         16  for United Neighborhood Houses.

         17                 MS. ROSEMIN: My name is Verdin

         18  Rosemin, and I am a member of CVH, and also a WEP

         19  worker.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         21  Okay, Ms. Krueger.

         22                 MS. KRUEGER: Thank you very much.

         23                 As we know and support by the New

         24  York City Coalition of Real Jobs the proposed

         25  transitional employment bill in front of the City
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          2  Council would be a demonstration program to create

          3  10,000 subsidized jobs over five years, participants

          4  will be placed in public and not-for-profit agencies

          5  as sponsors and they will perform services

          6  benefitting the community, the jobs will last over

          7  an 18-month period for each participant, where

          8  participants will receive education and training,

          9  support services, job search assistance and child

         10  care while working in real jobs.

         11                 That participants will be compensated

         12  at a minimum of at least $7.50 per hour, and with

         13  the same benefits as other employees in similar jobs

         14  with the same employers.

         15                 Participants as employees will have

         16  the rights of regular workers. They also will

         17  qualify for earned income tax credits during the

         18  course of the time that they are working.

         19                 Why would we support such a bill in

         20  front of the City Council? It is high time that New

         21  York City looked at welfare reform as an opportunity

         22  to move people into real jobs with career paths

         23  instead of simply declaring caseload reduction as

         24  some measure of success.

         25                 As you pointed out before in your
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          2  comments, many cities and states around the country

          3  are already taking the lead in job creation for

          4  hard-to-serve recipients of public benefits, and it

          5  is a good time for New York City to be focusing its

          6  attention in this direction.

          7                 There are reasons why we need job

          8  creation for low-income people in the City today,

          9  even though we are in quote/unquote, the best

         10  economic times in 25 years, we still suffer from an

         11  extremely high rate of joblessness, particularly in

         12  low-income communities in this City.

         13                 We also know, and the research

         14  confirms, that people with lowest levels of work

         15  skills and education and training have the hardest

         16  time finding jobs in today's economy. They need

         17  additional help with a hand up.

         18                 And finally, the truth is we all fear

         19  the possibility of an economic downturn in our

         20  future where some of the successes being claimed by

         21  welfare reform today, which have really simply been

         22  an outcome of better economic times, could turn

         23  around on us almost immediately.

         24                 We need models to be demonstrated in

         25  quote/unquote better times to show what we can do
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          2  help create real jobs for people even when times get

          3  worse.

          4                 Publicly funded jobs such as the City

          5  Council's transitional jobs bill respond to the

          6  above challenges while being consistent with the

          7  general philosophy of helping people move from

          8  welfare into employment. Job creation efforts are a

          9  useful tool for assuring that we do something about

         10  the job gap for people with the lowest education

         11  levels and the highest need for additional help in

         12  our poorest communities.

         13                 Some key elements of the Council's

         14  transitional employment bill that we support and

         15  endorse are that welfare recipients immediately

         16  become paid employees with taxable income. That

         17  means that their wages are subject to FICA taxes,

         18  which means they have the future protections other

         19  workers have, and it also provides them the ability

         20  to draw down earned income tax credits, which can in

         21  fact increase their income by up to a third more

         22  than their wages because of the advantages of

         23  federal and New York State earned income tax

         24  credits.

         25                 The jobs that are going to be
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          2  developed are intended to be in public and

          3  non-profit agencies that will provide close

          4  supervision and opportunities to people to learn new

          5  skills while performing important and useful work.

          6                 It will also enhance participant

          7  skills by providing vocational training and

          8  education as a supplement to the training they are

          9  getting in their jobs.

         10                 As was mentioned before, the majority

         11  of costs for operating this program are already

         12  available through a combination of regular TANF and

         13  safety net program funds, state TANF maintenance of

         14  effort funds, surplus TANF funds, federal welfare to

         15  work and workforce investment act monies that are

         16  available to New York City, and in fact we are not

         17  drawing down on our fair share of state and federal

         18  funds for these kinds of programs.

         19                 In addition, as I mentioned,

         20  transitional jobs will draw a new revenue to work

         21  communities from the federal and state EITCs paid to

         22  working participants.

         23                 For example, the average mother with

         24  two children who could be a participant in

         25  transitional jobs will draw an additional $3,900 a
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          2  year in earned income tax credits. That is new

          3  revenue to her family, that is new revenue to the

          4  City of New York, and that is new revenue being

          5  spent in poor communities.

          6                 There are very distinct advantages of

          7  wage paid transitional employment over the models

          8  that have been implemented to date in New York City.

          9                 Participants will acquire new skills,

         10  a greater ability to compete in the labor market and

         11  the dignity and economic security that accompany

         12  paid work.

         13                 Transitional jobs will be designed to

         14  teach occupation-specific skills to participants.

         15                 Transitional jobs can serve as a

         16  stepping stone to unsubsidized employment, since we

         17  are going to be working on targeting training and

         18  job development as part of the program.

         19                 Participants in transitional

         20  employment received increased earnings from day one

         21  of the program in addition to their earned income

         22  tax credit. Again, that money is immediately used by

         23  our poor neighbors in their communities to help them

         24  get a leg up and out of poverty and support their

         25  own communities.
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          2                 In neighborhoods with pressing needs

          3  and the City as a whole will benefit from the

          4  valuable community improvements and services that

          5  can be provided by 10,000 new employees in the

          6  public and not-for-profit sectors.

          7                 Why do we need transitional

          8  employment? Up until now, as has been discussed

          9  before already, the Human Resources Administration

         10  has been operating several welfare to work models,

         11  almost all of which are variations on workfare

         12  combined with cold-call job search activities. The

         13  truth is, these programs are not accomplishing the

         14  goals of moving welfare recipients into real jobs

         15  with wages that move them out of poverty.

         16                 Researchers from throughout the

         17  country have examined the results of workfare-type

         18  programs and they have all concluded that even when

         19  states and localities achieve the goals they set for

         20  themselves in the past, these performance rates are

         21  not enough to accomplish the real goal of moving

         22  people up and out of poverty.

         23                 In fact, a recent report by the Urban

         24  Institute on families who left welfare documents

         25  that many families who have left welfare throughout
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          2  the country are in fact struggling to survive. Even

          3  when they are finding jobs, they are finding jobs

          4  that don't pay them enough to meet their family's

          5  basic needs.

          6                 According to the Urban Institute

          7  Report, one-third to one-half of welfare leaders

          8  report serious difficulties in providing themselves

          9  and their families enough food. Almost 20 percent of

         10  reporting problems paying their rent, and welfare

         11  leavers through these programs being operated around

         12  the country are moving into jobs without benefits,

         13  without health insurance, and very often in worst

         14  situations than they were in before they left

         15  welfare.

         16                 Finally, in addition to the important

         17  value of jobs themselves and in transitional

         18  employment program, we are going to be trying to

         19  offer additional services that hard-to-serve,

         20  non-working people need to move into the labor

         21  market and stay in the labor market.

         22                 Your bill proposes case management

         23  services that are critically important for people

         24  transitioning into real jobs after perhaps a long

         25  period without employment, including ensuring the
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          2  people's benefits aren't erroneously interrupted,

          3  that they receive counseling, mentoring and other

          4  support as soon as there is any threat of job loss.

          5  Which means working on expanding access to good jobs

          6  beyond the period of transitional employment. There

          7  will be a real commitment in this program to help

          8  people move to permanent unsubsidized jobs, during

          9  the time they are in the program and as they leave

         10  it. And of course, we are also ensuring through this

         11  program bill that employees will be receiving

         12  literacy education and continued skills training

         13  they need while they are doing their transitional

         14  job, making them more likely to be able to compete

         15  in the unsubsidized labor market afterwards.

         16                 I know perhaps I am going on too

         17  long, I will just close with why we think it is so

         18  important for the City Council to pass this bill

         19  today and move forward with its agenda. There has

         20  been too much criticism of both what is happening in

         21  welfare reform in New York City today and what is

         22  not really -- and lack of criticism of what is

         23  really happening in our communities.

         24                 It is not welfare reform simply to

         25  close cases. True welfare reform means helping
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          2  people move out of poverty. It means giving people

          3  the ability to have the dignity of work and to take

          4  care of themselves and their families. And an

          5  enormous amount of money has been spent in the City

          6  and State on program models that have failed to

          7  accomplish any of those goals.

          8                 Thank you very much.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Just before we

         10  go on, I just want to make one thing clear, if I

         11  didn't. The Committee will not be voting on the bill

         12  today. The idea is to take any and all additional

         13  commentary and have the lawyers once again and the

         14  staff once again go through the bill, because we

         15  want the tightest, you know strongest, if possible

         16  language involved, making clear our intent. So, I

         17  just want you to know that, number one.

         18                 And number two, I want to be sure

         19  everyone is clear. You may have said, unless I heard

         20  you wrong, so people who are on welfare will have

         21  these 10,000 jobs, sort of -- I wanted to make sure

         22  the record is clear. There is not entitlement aspect

         23  to this legislation that relates on a one-to-one

         24  basis to any set of welfare recipients.

         25                 In other words, the jobs are created
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          2  and folks who are on welfare and ten percent of

          3  folks who are unemployed have to qualify and be

          4  certified and compete, if you will, for the job.

          5  There is no guarantee that any one particular person

          6  gets the job ultimately over five years, 10,000

          7  people do. And the reason for that, I guess you do

          8  know, since you are nodding in agreement is to, as

          9  completely as possible mirror the real world, one,

         10  is it necessarily guaranteed a job as one goes out

         11  and searches and so on, but one interviews and

         12  competes and tries to acquire a job. So I just

         13  wanted to be clear on that. You are clear on that?

         14                 MS. KRUEGER: Yes. But again, the

         15  program was designed with specific additional

         16  services and supports because of the recognition

         17  that the population who would be eligible in

         18  competing for these 10,000 slots are in fact a

         19  population of people who have significant

         20  disadvantages compared to the overall population of

         21  workers in New York City.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         23                 Okay, let's finish up with the next

         24  two witnesses, and then Mr. Turetsky, I understand

         25  you are going last.
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          2                 And again, after this there are some

          3  things to put on the record. The Administration will

          4  have -- it is not clear as to whether or not --

          5  normally my hearings go on for, as my members will

          6  tell you, for hours and hours, that can't happen

          7  today because of scheduling problems, so it is not

          8  clear that we will be able to take additional

          9  unscheduled witnesses today. We have at least one

         10  name but it is not clear that we will be able to get

         11  to them, we have our set of scheduled witnesses.

         12                 Speak right up to the microphone.

         13                 MS. ROSEMIN: Good morning. My name is

         14  Verdin Rosemin. Hello. I am from Community Voices

         15  Heard. Community Voices Heard is an organization

         16  that helps the people on welfare help themselves. We

         17  are vocal on the Empire State Jobs Bill. We have

         18  meetings where people can air their differences, and

         19  because WEP isn't working, we are trying to find a

         20  better way to help people get off welfare and find a

         21  job and stay in that job.

         22                 WEP doesn't work. I have had so many

         23  assignments and I am still not working. I really

         24  want to work. The jobs that you get are so meanial,

         25  the pay is low, the hours are not sufficient and you
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          2  are not even sure how long the job is going to last.

          3  You can't get off welfare like that. Most of us are

          4  not lazy, there are no jobs for us.

          5                 I started WEP in 1997, I went to

          6  Harlem Hospital where I was assigned to the

          7  Pediatric Department, I had to check the doctors and

          8  children's form and write any information that was

          9  not there. My supervisor, Mrs. Jones, wanted to hire

         10  me but the hospital was being threatened with

         11  closure.

         12                 I was transferred to the Jewish Home

         13  and Hospital to assist the unit clerk, and I also

         14  went to school in Hannoch Program where I got my

         15  GED.

         16                 I was sent to the computer program

         17  where I was practicing my typing. They took me out

         18  of the training and I was sent to the Bronx where I

         19  prepared food for AIDS patients and also served

         20  them. I was in the Job Search Program where they

         21  send you for interviews, knowing that there were

         22  actually no jobs available. They just wanted you to

         23  get anywhere so that they can get their commission.

         24                 Those Job Search Programs don't work.

         25  They may work for one or two people, but not for the
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          2  majority. I called and went to lots of interviews.

          3  One job I took in a school cafeteria where I stayed

          4  on my feet for eight hours straight. It was too much

          5  for me because I my health so I had to quit after a

          6  month. Plus that job was seasonal.

          7                 I have been to numerous interviews

          8  and have not been hired.

          9                 When they sent me for interviews

         10  there weren't jobs that you can depend on because

         11  the wages were low, there weren't enough hours, some

         12  jobs were seasonal, there were no benefits offered.

         13                 I did everything they told me, went

         14  where they told me, but nothing ever worked out.

         15                 WEP does not work. It doesn't help

         16  people get good jobs and get off welfare, WEP does

         17  not work. The transitional employment bill should be

         18  passed because it will create good jobs for decent

         19  wages and benefits. It will create 10,000 good jobs

         20  in New York City for welfare recipients, jobs of the

         21  future. It will provide training and put you in

         22  sensible positions, and provide benefits and a

         23  decent wage. This is the only way I am going to get

         24  off welfare.

         25                 When you have something good going
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          2  for you, you can get off welfare. WEP is just

          3  running around in circles. Please pass this bill

          4  because it is very, very important to us. Thank you

          5  very much.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Quiet, please.

          7                 Next.

          8                 MS. LYLES: My name is Ruby Lyles. I

          9  am 52. I have work experience. I am here

         10  representing WEP Workers Together. I worked in

         11  banking for 18 years, so I have work experience.

         12                 I fell into public assistance not by

         13  choice, by chance. And I work through the WEP

         14  program in the New York City Health Department, the

         15  Department of TB. I have been there two years. They

         16  promised me a job this year, and somehow it was

         17  taken away.

         18                 I live alone. I am self-supporting, I

         19  take care of myself. $5.15 an hour on public

         20  assistance can't pay my bills. I pay my light, gas,

         21  telephone bill myself.

         22                 I am afraid if I created a job for

         23  myself, such as selling drugs or prostitution, I am

         24  going to jail, but yet I am stuck in a WEP program

         25  not getting paid at all.
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          2                 I don't get personal days, vacation

          3  days. I don't get those things. But, yet I have to

          4  work in a WEP program along with other people that

          5  get paid. It is a good program for people that don't

          6  have any work experience, but I have that. I have

          7  worked practically all of my life doing what I have

          8  to do to take care of myself, but I feel that my

          9  pride and certain parts of me have been taken away

         10  by the WEP program because I am not doing what I was

         11  trained to do.

         12                 I am a high school graduate. I have

         13  gone to many business schools, but yet they can't

         14  find any reason to pay me for what I do at the

         15  Health Department.

         16                 I feel degraded being there, mainly

         17  because a lot of people are not educated about WEP.

         18  If you are on public assistance or if you are on a

         19  WEP program, you are low grade, which is not always

         20  the case, that that case is where people that are on

         21  WEP are, people that hold real jobs, but a real job

         22  means that I can be self-sufficient again, take care

         23  of my light, gas, telephone bill. I have a disposses

         24  (sic) because I don't have a job. Not because I am

         25  not trying.
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          2                 If I am working three days a week,

          3  eight hours a day, I have two days a week to find

          4  work, go to the doctor, any other errands that I

          5  have to run, it makes it very hard. So, WEP can work

          6  if it provided real jobs for people.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay.

          8                 MS. LYLES: Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         10                 I just want to again keep the record

         11  clear, you understand that the transitional jobs

         12  bill and bills like it throughout the country create

         13  wage-paying jobs and a set of people then leave

         14  welfare, compete in a sense for the jobs, and have a

         15  real job.

         16                 Now, it is time-limited, it is six

         17  months, it is 12 months, our model is 18 months, but

         18  it is a real job from day one.

         19                 It is different than how the existing

         20  Work Experience Program works, and, again, there is

         21  another Committee looking into ways to make that

         22  program work better. It is in some ways a separate

         23  issue.

         24                 There is no guarantee, but if you

         25  were willing and you indicate in your testimony that
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          2  you are, and this would become the law, you would go

          3  tot the appropriate department, you would have to

          4  get certified, the burden is on you, you would then

          5  have to search so-to-speak among the agencies or the

          6  private not-for-profit sector for one of those jobs,

          7  compete with others, just like, you know, what

          8  happens for so many others, but is unable to happen

          9  in many ways because of skills that are lacking and

         10  because of this gap between the numbers of people

         11  looking for entry level jobs and the number of jobs

         12  that there are.

         13                 Okay, Mr. Turetsky.

         14                 MR. TURETSKY: Good morning, Chairman

         15  DiBrienza, and members of the Committee. My name is

         16  Doug Turetsky, and I am here representing the United

         17  Neighborhood Houses, the federation of 37 settlement

         18  houses that benefit 500,000 participants in programs

         19  and services and activities at 310 locations

         20  throughout the City.

         21                 Anyone who lives and works in the

         22  communities where settlement houses are located can

         23  tell you there are too few jobs and plenty of unmet

         24  needs.

         25                 The proposed transitional employment
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          2  program will help settlements and other

          3  community-based organizations achieve two important

          4  goals, providing job opportunities and meeting local

          5  service needs. That makes this bill a smart

          6  investment of public funds, one that offers people a

          7  real shot at moving toward self-sufficiency.

          8                 I am going to skip down to the bottom

          9  of my prepared testimony, which you can read at your

         10  leisure and just make two points that I don't think

         11  have been made yet today.

         12                 The community service provisions of

         13  the bill mean the program is also an investment in

         14  neighborhoods. Settlement Houses, like other

         15  community-based organizations, are often frustrated

         16  in their desire to meet community needs because of a

         17  lack of resources.

         18                 This bill can help fill that gap. For

         19  example, individuals employed under the transitional

         20  employment program can become part of efforts to

         21  enroll thousands of uninsured children in the

         22  expanded Child Health Plus and Medicaid programs, or

         23  to increase the availability of affordable high

         24  quality child care.

         25                 Yes, this bill will cost the City 21
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          2  million over five years, but it is a modest

          3  investment that offers important and productive

          4  return, especially when compared to some of the

          5  extraordinarily expensive corporate retention deals

          6  the City has undertaken, and it will enable us to

          7  draw down nearly 100 million in additional support

          8  in federal welfare reform.

          9                 As a means of helping people move out

         10  of poverty and meeting local needs, the transitional

         11  employment program makes sense.

         12                 UNH urges the City Council to approve

         13  this bill.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         15                 Your entire testimony will be entered

         16  into the record, I appreciate the self-editing.

         17                 Let me, just before we move on, I

         18  understand that there is another statement that you

         19  have prepared to submit?

         20                 MS. KRUEGER: Yes, thank you. Maurice

         21  Emsellem, who has also been an active member of the

         22  Coalition for Real Jobs from the National Employment

         23  Law Project was called away out of town today and

         24  also would like his statement of support for the

         25  transitional employment program entered into the
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          2  record, and the Council Members have also received

          3  copies of his testimony.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Terrific. I am

          5  looking at the testimony. The Key Features of the

          6  Transitional Employment Program, perhaps by way of

          7  summary, the demonstration program creates 10,000

          8  subsidized jobs over five years. We know

          9  participants will be placed in public and non-profit

         10  private sector agencies, we know these are 18-month

         11  duration, but from day one a person a person leaves

         12  the welfare rolls, certifies, qualifies and then

         13  searches for and competes for one of the jobs. We

         14  know that these jobs have a fair compensation rate,

         15  employment rights, because it is a job, and we have

         16  some testimony about the cost, much of which

         17  supports the presentation we made at the beginning

         18  of the hearing.

         19                 Let me just ask you, perhaps Mr.

         20  Turetksy you can cover it, anyone may. I don't know

         21  if you were here at the very beginning, I went

         22  through a brief list, Governor Ridge in

         23  Pennsylvania, 16,000 transitional jobs, Governor

         24  Thompson in Wisconsin, wage-paying jobs part of

         25  Wisconsin works, our own democratic Assemblyman
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          2  Roberto Ramirez' Empire State Jobs Bill which

          3  Governor Pataki signed into law, states and cities

          4  across this country, Baltimore, Seattle, Detroit,

          5  Vermont, San Francisco and Ohio. Have you read any

          6  of the material from these other states and cities

          7  about the transitional jobs approach?

          8                 MS. KRUEGER: Yes. In fact, in my

          9  testimony I included summaries from a number of

         10  those program models around the country.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         12                 Okay, I don't think I have any other

         13  questions. Does anybody have any questions? We have

         14  been joined by Council Member Christine Quinn.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Liz, the other

         16  programs that Council Member DiBrienza asked you

         17  about, there is nothing significantly different

         18  about the proposal on the table here today. I guess

         19  I ask that question because I am trying to

         20  understand why some people, and some elected

         21  officials across the country would be proposing

         22  this, supporting and why others perhaps even in the

         23  same party might be so opposed to it. Is there

         24  something different that perhaps I am missing as

         25  this relates to the other ones that Steve mentioned?
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          2                 MS. KRUEGER: Each of the models when

          3  you look around the country have variations,

          4  different sizes, different lengths of time of the

          5  program models, but basically they all follow the

          6  same premise that government is investing in

          7  creating jobs for transitional periods of time, for

          8  people who are the hardest to serve, using

          9  government funding streams that are available to

         10  actually create real jobs for people that are

         11  designed to provide them the additional educational

         12  training and services that will make it more likely

         13  that they can then move on to unsubsidized

         14  employment when the program is over.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you. And

         17  I just want to say for the record, since I took the

         18  Council in February, I have had a little trouble

         19  getting my names on all the bills I have requested

         20  to be on. I said this at another hearing on a

         21  similar topic so I am a prime sponsor of the bill

         22  and I just wanted to make sure the chair and the

         23  witnesses knew that.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Well, we
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          2  welcome your sponsorship.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY: Mr. Chairman, I

          4  am curious about one thing. In some of the

          5  testimonies there was some people made, they alluded

          6  to federal funds that could be made available for

          7  this to address it.

          8                 In other testimonies mention was made

          9  of the 5 billion surplus that exists and the need

         10  for us to use $21 million over a five-year period. I

         11  am just wondering if there would be any difficulty

         12  in assessing federal funds, hence the need for us to

         13  tap into the 2 billion surplus.

         14                 MR. TURETSKY: The funds are there,

         15  the programs are designed for us to draw, as I

         16  understand it, to draw down these dollars. It is a

         17  matter of the City choosing to enter into these

         18  various alternative models.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: To my

         20  colleague, in short you have obviously savings from

         21  10,000 people who leave the welfare rolls over the

         22  five years. You have about $88 million that the City

         23  already won, if you will, in a sense in the

         24  competition, $88 million from the federal government

         25  designed from welfare to work programs, which this
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          2  is. The surplus and we have all used different

          3  numbers, but I think the estimate is somewhere

          4  between $500 million and $1 billion plus, $1 billion

          5  and a quarter, and, again, it would take nowhere

          6  near all that money, but it is sitting there, it is

          7  generated, it is in the state, and in part the

          8  reason states get to keep the surpluses is to design

          9  programs to help people become self-sufficient. And

         10  of course, when you combine all of that with the

         11  earned income tax credit which has been expanded,

         12  that is why we can safely say that the cost, the

         13  real net out-of-pocket cost to the City is down

         14  around $20 million over the five years.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY: Another

         16  question that still arises is that since the federal

         17  funds are available, how do you then explain the

         18  reluctancy on the part of the Administration to tap

         19  into something that would be no burden on us?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I am not so

         21  sure. I will try to shed some light on that and then

         22  we will bring the Administration up next and we will

         23  try to shed some light on that. But I am as

         24  concerned as you are, Councilman.

         25                 Thank you, folks, very much for your
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          2  testimony.

          3                 Let me do two things. Let me for the

          4  record expound on one point I made in the opening,

          5  the bipartisan US Conference of Mayors voted to

          6  officially endorse this kind of program approach. I

          7  am looking at a resolution passed by the Conference

          8  of Mayors, which we want to enter into the record.

          9  It was June of this year. It passed with wide

         10  bipartisan support, and just let me quickly

         11  paraphrase, but we will enter the entire thing into

         12  the record. There are several whereas clauses where

         13  there are time limits on cash assistance and other

         14  welfare requirements are prompting cities to develop

         15  new strategies to help the hard to employ:

         16                 Whereas, city, county and state

         17  welfare to work programs increasingly are serving

         18  recipients with little or no work experience.

         19                 Whereas, in many urban areas, even in

         20  regions experiencing strong economic growth, often

         21  there are inadequate supply of jobs for low-skilled

         22  individuals, the gap we referred to.

         23                 Whereas, shortages of low-skilled

         24  jobs will become more pervasive if an economic

         25  downturn results, shrinking the pool of unsubsidized
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          2  employment opportunities.

          3                 Whereas, research suggests publicly

          4  funded transitional jobs can boost the employability

          5  of the very disadvantaged, alleviate job shortage,

          6  shortages during period of downturn.

          7                 Whereas, publicly funded transitional

          8  jobs can also generate other benefits, purchasing

          9  power for residents in various neighborhoods,

         10  economic impact in communities.

         11                 Whereas, publicly funded transitional

         12  jobs avoid many of the shortcomings of traditional

         13  workfare programs.

         14                 Whereas, new federal regulations

         15  governing TANF programs allow cities, counties and

         16  states to use, and this goes to your question,

         17  Council Member, TANF surplus and welfare to work

         18  funds to put recipients at the publicly funded

         19  transitional jobs.

         20                 Whereas, the creation of publicly

         21  funded transitional jobs will reduce caseload. In

         22  our model, 10,000 people will leave the rolls from

         23  day one, receiving paychecks, not welfare checks.

         24                 Whereas, even the new Workfare

         25  Reinvest Act funds can also be used to finance paid
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          2  work.

          3                 Whereas, the federal and government

          4  routinely create publicly funded transitional jobs

          5  for victims of natural disasters and others.

          6                 Whereas, critics have begun to play

          7  -- cities have begun to play important roles in the

          8  designed implementation of publicly funded

          9  transitional jobs programs, helping to employ

         10  individuals gain a foothold in the labor market.

         11                 Now, therefore, be it resolved, that

         12  the US Conference of Mayors urges federal, state and

         13  county governments to work collaboratively with city

         14  officials to develop, implement and expand

         15  innovative programs that creates publicly funded

         16  transitional jobs for welfare recipients and other

         17  hard to employ individuals.

         18                 Be it further resolved the US

         19  Conference of Mayors will support the development of

         20  publicly funded transitional jobs through

         21  partnerships and other support for individual cities

         22  interested in such strategies.

         23                 Let the record reflect that the

         24  resolution is entered into the record.

         25                 Now, let me just say one other thing
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          2  before bringing on the Administration. The Mayor

          3  released a press release I guess earlier today,

          4  calling on the Council not to improve introductory

          5  354-A. And in the first, let's go through it, the

          6  bottom of the first paragraph, "Would require the

          7  City to create 10,000 new jobs, subsidized by the

          8  taxpayers of New York City." Somehow implying a

          9  problem. The taxpayer dollars, whether the city,

         10  state or federal, are currently what make up the

         11  welfare payment that people receive, the fact that

         12  some of our money, 10,000 people, would go into

         13  creating jobs, and paychecks rather than welfare

         14  checks, is I believe not a problem, and that is why

         15  cities and states across the country are doing it.

         16                 "This bill is a product of the

         17  philosophy of dependency. Instead of encouraging

         18  self-sufficiency and independence, the bill

         19  encourages reliance on government, instead of one's

         20  self."

         21                 Now, this transitional jobs program,

         22  like others in cities and states throughout the

         23  country, would have 10,000 people leave the welfare

         24  rolls from day one, over the five-year period, would

         25  work full-time jobs to pay in benefits, and on top
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          2  of their work requirements, their job requirements,

          3  average eight hours a week in education and training

          4  above and beyond. And at the end of the 18 months,

          5  or some time during the 18 months, certainly by the

          6  end, the belief is that folks who have had a real

          7  job for 18 months, with some education training and

          8  the various other supports, will be better able to

          9  get a permanent job. Not a real job, because this

         10  one is real from day one. The right terminology is

         11  permanent job. I am not sure how that is philosophy

         12  of dependency.

         13                 Now, for the reasons to oppose the

         14  legislation, three reasons: First, we don't have the

         15  authority. So they raise whenever they disagree with

         16  some of what actions the Council contemplates

         17  taking, they constantly raise the hours issue, that

         18  we don't have the power to do that, there is some

         19  kind of preemption. And we will let the lawyers

         20  argue that. I never like to win or lose or debate

         21  technicalities when we are trying to deal with

         22  substance.

         23                 Two, since the workers successful job

         24  recipients would be assigned civil service positions

         25  without regard to qualifications, exam, et cetera,
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          2  they are very concerned it would violate the civil

          3  service laws. This, from an administration that

          4  routinely ignores the civil service law and has been

          5  one of the most uncooperative when it comes to tests

          6  and processing and merit and civil service, I am not

          7  so sure how they can justify that position, given

          8  the support we have from so many of the civil

          9  service unions.

         10                 Lastly, their third and final

         11  argument, the legislation would impose severe costs

         12  on the city fiscally irresponsible. It is a

         13  catch-all.

         14                 OMB says it will be $394 million.

         15  Now, if anyone knows anything about the statistics,

         16  you know that you can make them say what you want.

         17  If you take 10,000 people off of welfare from day

         18  one over the five years, and they are not in the WEP

         19  program, you safe hundreds of millions of dollars.

         20                 If you take a little bit of the

         21  welfare to work fund, which exists for this purpose,

         22  it comes from the federal government.

         23                 If you look at the billion dollar

         24  plus TANF surplus and say some of it may help and

         25  you use the earned income tax credit, our financial
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          2  analysts are confident that the net cost to the City

          3  over the five years is about $20 million.

          4                 So, I am glad to hear those

          5  arguments, because they are at least positions that

          6  one could debate, as opposed to the two editorials

          7  which just completely blew it and used all kinds of

          8  buzz words and were factually inaccurate about the

          9  numbers and the causes and so on, the notion of

         10  entitlements, I mean those editorials just blew it.

         11                 So, with that we have the Mayor's

         12  press release and thoughts, from my reading anyway,

         13  in the record.

         14                 I left out the last quote, "This bill

         15  is throwback to the days when people looked to

         16  government for handouts." Again, I am not sure why

         17  people get caught up in that kind of attack without

         18  analyzing the facts, without analyzing what is

         19  happening in cities and states across this country.

         20  But this Council and this Committee I hope, and

         21  ultimately this Council, will stick to the facts.

         22                 Transitional jobs programs assists

         23  those who are difficult to employ move from welfare

         24  to work, not just from welfare to workfare. The WEP

         25  program will continue, through the work of other
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          2  committees in the Council that program for those in

          3  it we hope will become more fair and just. But for

          4  as many as 10,000 people over five years, we can

          5  begin the transition to real jobs from day one

          6  earning a paycheck, not a welfare check, at minimal

          7  cost to the City. And once again, to move us to the

          8  cutting edge of transitional jobs programs that are

          9  happening in cities and states around this country.

         10                 Now, having said all of that, let us

         11  get the Administration up here to see what they have

         12  to say in their testimony, and then we will conclude

         13  for today.

         14                 And then we will review all of the

         15  comments, we will review all of the legal language,

         16  we will review all of the questions that were

         17  raised, and we will hopefully be in position to have

         18  a more final, or a final, final version of 354-A

         19  ready for the Council.

         20                 All witnesses who appear before the

         21  Committee are first addressed by Council.

         22                 MR. NEWMAN: Please raise your right

         23  hands. Do you swear or affirm that the testimony you

         24  are about to give is the truth?

         25                 MS. ROMEO: I do.
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: I do.

          3                 MR. NEWMAN: Please state your names

          4  and affiliations for the record.

          5                 MS. ROMEO: Robin Romeo, the Office of

          6  Labor Relations.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: Seth

          8  Diamond from the Human Resources Administration.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Mr. Diamond, I

         10  understand you have prepared remarks?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: I do,

         12  yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: If you are

         14  ready, can you present them? I haven't seen them. I

         15  will read along with you. I trust they are on 354-A

         16  and that you will save us time in any way that you

         17  can. Thank you.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: Okay,

         19  thank you.

         20                 Good morning. As I said, my name is

         21  Seth Diamond, Deputy Commissioner in the Human

         22  Resources Administration's Family Independence

         23  Administration. I am here to present the

         24  Administration's strong opposition to Intro. 354-A,

         25  which would establish a transitional employment
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          2  program.

          3                 This legislation would force the City

          4  to embark on an expensive new taxpayer-funded

          5  program, that would mandate thousands of unnecessary

          6  government jobs, while not adequately preparing

          7  public assistance recipients for unsubsidized

          8  employment.

          9                 As this Committee is well aware, New

         10  York City's welfare reform program has led to

         11  unprecedented declines in the public assistance

         12  caseload. More than half a million people have left

         13  public assistance since the Mayor's welfare reform

         14  program started in 1995.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Excuse me. Let

         16  me just ask you, of that half a million, how many

         17  are children?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND:

         19  Approximately two-thirds.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Two-thirds.

         21  That is 350,000. So we are talking about 150,000

         22  adults. Okay, go ahead.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: The

         24  public assistance caseload has dropped virtually

         25  every month for the past 54 months stretching back
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          2  to March 1995. This sustained decline over four and

          3  a half years clearly demonstrates the program is

          4  providing recipients with the skills they need to

          5  get and keep unsubsidized jobs.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Excuse me.

          7                 Quiet, folks. We won't accept that.

          8  You will be asked to leave.

          9                 Excuse me, Commissioner. So, I have

         10  the 150,000 adults number cleared up, I just wanted

         11  to know whether you have brought with you in

         12  addition to your testimony any documentary evidence

         13  that can prove 150,000 or so adults that have left

         14  the rolls have gotten and kept unsubsidized jobs?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: Well, I

         16  address later some issues.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay. Thank

         18  you.

         19                 Folks, you have to be quiet, or I

         20  will have to ask the Sergeant-At-Arms to have you

         21  leave, and then the cameras play and everybody gets

         22  angry for no reason. So, let's listen to everything

         23  the Commissioner has to say. This Committee can well

         24  handle the presentation.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: This
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          2  legislation, by effectively making welfare payments

          3  permanent for thousands of people would use the City

          4  in the opposite direction --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Excuse me,

          6  again, Commissioner. I hate to keep doing this.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: Can I

          8  finish the testimony and then you will have time for

          9  questions?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: It is not

         11  really a question, it is a clarification, because I

         12  am reading along with you.

         13                 You mention here making welfare

         14  payments from it. Did you read the law? If 10,000

         15  people would leave welfare from day one, earning a

         16  paycheck not a welfare check. I didn't want you to

         17  keep going if you have made a mistake.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: No, I

         19  didn't make a mistake. I think my argument will

         20  become clear if I just finish the whole thing.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay. Go right

         22  ahead.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: While

         24  the public assistance caseload have continued to

         25  decline, the number of job placements has continued
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          2  to increase. Since July 1995, HRA has reported over

          3  187,000 documented job placements of public

          4  assistance recipients. The overwhelming majority of

          5  these 187,000 document job placements are in

          6  unsubsidized jobs in the private sector and

          7  represent a real path to self-sufficiency rather

          8  than the placements in thousands of unnecessary

          9  government jobs contemplated by Intro. 354-A.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Excuse me,

         11  again, Commissioner.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Do you have --

         14  you say you have documented job placement, do you

         15  have documents you can share with us? And does it

         16  indicate whether those job placements are for a day,

         17  a week, a month or a year if they are at levels of

         18  income. I have never heard this before.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: Well,

         20  these numbers are reported in the Mayor's Management

         21  Report every year.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Yes, but what

         23  document? Do you have an actual document?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: Yes.

         25  Perhaps in fairness to me, if I could get through
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          2  the whole document and then you will have as much

          3  time as you would like for questions.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I don't really

          5  have any questions, I am just trying to follow your

          6  testimony.

          7                 Go ahead.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: This

          9  high number of placements is more than three times

         10  the total in Fiscal Years 1990 through the first

         11  half of Fiscal 1994 prior to welfare reform being

         12  implemented in New York City.

         13                 Further, these reported numbers, if

         14  anything, underestimate the true number of job

         15  placements achieved by public assistance recipients

         16  as many individuals obtain jobs and simply let their

         17  cases close without reporting their employment to

         18  HRA. A recent study by the Rockefeller Institute of

         19  Government confirmed this result. The study, which

         20  analyzed families whose public assistance cases

         21  closed during the first quarter of 1997, concluded

         22  that in over 70 percent of these closed cases there

         23  was an adult employed in the household some time

         24  during the next year.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Excuse me,
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          2  Commissioner, one more time.

          3                 Is that the same study that concluded

          4  after a year the number was already down to 50

          5  percent showing a downward trend line and where the

          6  author of the study said this is just a tip of the

          7  analytical iceberg and that we have a lot more to

          8  study. Is that the same Rockefeller study?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: I don't

         10  know the quote that you are making, but I know the

         11  quote that said that the central premise of the

         12  study -- the central conclusion of their study was

         13  that people on public assistance who left were

         14  finding employment.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Yes, I read

         16  the study. And after one year the 70 percent dropped

         17  to 50 percent, so I just wanted to make sure it was

         18  the same study.

         19                 Go ahead.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: The best

         21  way to prepare individuals for employment to allow

         22  them to work in a structured well supervised

         23  setting. By forcing City agencies to create

         24  thousands of feather-bedding jobs, without concern

         25  to whether the jobs are truly needed, there is no
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          2  guarantee the recipients in the jobs created by

          3  Intro. 354-A will be able to obtain the skills they

          4  need to proceed in private employment.

          5                 Placing individuals in make work jobs

          6  where they will be asked to do little real work and

          7  receive little supervision and work skills will not

          8  prepare these individuals for the competitive

          9  private sector.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Excuse me,

         11  Commissioner. One more time.

         12                 I think it is insulting of you to

         13  come here -- we didn't attack your program, we

         14  didn't attack you, but to come here and suggest, you

         15  know, perhaps not reading the law, that these are

         16  make work feather-bedding jobs, is highly insulting

         17  and offensive. If you read the law, people compete

         18  for real jobs from day one, in both the public and

         19  private not-for-profit sector and have to not only

         20  accomplish their 35 or so hours or whatever the

         21  regular work week is, but on top of that have an

         22  eight hour, on average eight hour a week education

         23  and training component.

         24                 So, to suggest something about

         25  feather bedding or make work is insulting pretty
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          2  much to you because it indicates you didn't even

          3  read it.

          4                 You can disagree with it but it is

          5  really not fair.

          6                 But anyway, why don't you go on.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: Well, I

          8  think your comments are unfair. I have read the law,

          9  I think the comments are fair based on the fact that

         10  the law has forced City agencies to create jobs that

         11  are not needed, that may not be providing people

         12  with the skills they need, and I find it unfortunate

         13  that you continue to interrupt and not let me make

         14  my argument.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I am sorry. I

         16  just wanted to clarify.

         17                 Go on.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: You are

         19  interrupting.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I said excuse

         21  me. Go on.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: In

         23  addition, the bill, by creating a government

         24  employment program, would give recipients a false

         25  sense that they should continue to look to the
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          2  government and not the private sector for

          3  unsubsidized employment.

          4                 In the New York area and throughout

          5  the country governments are reducing employment

          6  levels, yet this bill would encourage individuals on

          7  public assistance to apply for government jobs

          8  rather than focusing on finding work in the private

          9  sector. This clearly sends the wrong message.

         10                 As a result of the policies of this

         11  Administration, New York City has a vibrant and

         12  growing private sector. In the last five years New

         13  York City has gained more than 300,000 private

         14  sector jobs.

         15                 In fact, in 1998 the City created

         16  more jobs than in any year since these records began

         17  to be kept in 1950, and this year we are on a pace

         18  to do even better.

         19                 It is to the private sector that most

         20  individuals on public assistance should look for

         21  employment and not to the government.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Excuse me,

         23  Commissioner.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: No, I

         25  want to finish.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Do you have a

          3  breakdown?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: No, I

          5  want to finish the statement.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I was just

          7  asking you a clarification. Do you have a breakdown

          8  of the --

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: I don't

         10  interrupt you when you are asking questions. Can I

         11  finish the statement?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Sure, in a

         13  second.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: Can I

         15  finish it now?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: If you want

         17  to. I just want to know if you have a breakdown of

         18  the 300,000 private sector jobs by entry level or

         19  not.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: I don't

         21  have that here, but I am sure we can --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay, go on.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: The

         24  thousands of new government jobs this legislation

         25  would mandate would also impose a heavy cost on New
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          2  York City and its taxpayers.

          3                 We estimate that the total cost of

          4  this legislation will be $394 million and the cost

          5  to the city of the bill will be approximately $343

          6  million annually.

          7                 These figures include the cost of

          8  creating 10,000 new jobs, as well as the supervisors

          9  and other administrative costs that are associated

         10  with such a large increase in employment.

         11                 The true cost of this legislation

         12  could exceed $394 million annually, as the City

         13  could be forced to employ and pay salaries to

         14  individuals far beyond their 18-month or two-year

         15  tenure in the program.

         16                 In the case of City employees, civil

         17  service laws and regulations could prevent the City

         18  from removing those hired from their position after

         19  two years. The cost of their employment could then

         20  continue unfunded by this program while a new

         21  participant was brought into a job.

         22                 The Administration has worked hard

         23  over the past several years to reduce government

         24  expenditures, improve the efficiency of government

         25  and reduce public employment.
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          2                 In a time when all levels are

          3  streamlining their operation to reduce their need

          4  for tax dollars, this bill would force this city to

          5  go against that trend and lead to a much more

          6  bloated city government.

          7                 Funding from the federal government

          8  should also not be counted on to pay for much of

          9  these costs of this program. First, much of that

         10  funding has already been allocated to pay for the

         11  innovative welfare reform programs we are

         12  implementing.

         13                 One example of these programs is the

         14  PRIDE Program, that provides employment services to

         15  those with disabilities.

         16                 Second, it is unclear if TANF funding

         17  can be used to pay in individual wages far in excess

         18  of TANF eligibility levels.

         19                 Further, the future of much of that

         20  funding is uncertain. Just last week a congressional

         21  committee voted to reduce New York State's TANF

         22  block grant by over $500 million, and it is far from

         23  clear that the welfare to work program will continue

         24  to be funded by congress.

         25                 While the scale and government first
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          2  philosophy for job creation of this legislation

          3  leads to our strong opposition, we already do

          4  provide opportunities for qualified public

          5  assistance to enter real jobs in the public sector.

          6  While many public sector jobs require examinations

          7  and hiring is only pursuant to calling a civil

          8  service list, an issue that will no doubt lead to

          9  extreme complications for Intro. 354-A, if it were

         10  to be enacted, there are a limited number of jobs

         11  for which an examination is not required.

         12                 These positions represent vacancies

         13  for real jobs where even in the face of the smaller

         14  city government, it has been determined that the job

         15  needs to be filled.

         16                 At the direction of the Mayor, City

         17  agencies, when filling these entry level vacancies,

         18  are required to first look to WEP participants or

         19  other public assistance recipients of whom they are

         20  aware. By filling these existing positions, we are

         21  not increasing the bloat of City government but are

         22  ensuring that the individuals who work in meaningful

         23  jobs that will enhance their employment prospects,

         24  wherever they choose to work in the future.

         25                 Further, HRA also has a program to
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          2  provide short term, carefully targeted assistance to

          3  private sector firms that hire public assistance

          4  recipients. This program, which currently has over

          5  1,400 participants and is known as TEAP,

          6  Transitional Employment Assistance Program, allows

          7  employers to receive a portion of an individual's

          8  public assistance grant for a period of several

          9  months, for each public assistance recipient they

         10  hire.

         11                 The TEAP amount is modest, averaging

         12  about $250 monthly, and would not by itself allow an

         13  entity to create a new position. Instead it could

         14  assist a company in paying for additional training

         15  or supportive services to help someone on public

         16  assistance make the transition to a real job.

         17                 Further, TEAP is limited to

         18  approximately six months rather than the 18 month or

         19  two year subsidy contemplated by the proposed

         20  legislation.

         21                 Individuals who enter the TEAP

         22  program are hired as regular employees of the

         23  company in which they are working, and in many cases

         24  remain there following the TEAP period.

         25                 In other cases, TEAP allows an
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          2  organization to provide paid work experience for a

          3  limited period of time before they are moved to

          4  employment in the private sector.

          5                 It does not, as is contemplated by

          6  Intro. 354-A, allow an individual to stay in an

          7  artificial position for an extended period of time

          8  without exposure to the competitive job market.

          9                 For all of these reasons, we strongly

         10  oppose the legislation.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         12                 Back on page three you had a question

         13  about, you had some comments about the cost and the

         14  18 months cycle and whether or not if we are in

         15  these jobs, they somehow would automatically be

         16  entitled to stay and a new 10,000 would come in. I

         17  just want the record to be clear, we have grappled

         18  with that issue among the lawyers in terms of the

         19  best way to legally cover it, and I just wanted the

         20  legislative intent to be absolutely clear, the

         21  individuals involved would be, if one is qualified

         22  and once they finish competing for the jobs that

         23  exist, be entitled to the job for 18 months, there

         24  is provision for a six-month extension, which is

         25  where you get the two year number.
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          2                 (Outburst from audience.)

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Quiet, please.

          4  Thank you.

          5                 And the record should be absolutely

          6  clear that that is the duration of the program and

          7  there are no ongoing obligations for the participant

          8  and that is something that the Administration of the

          9  program will make clear, since it is not a mandate,

         10  this is not an entitlement, since in fact people

         11  have to qualify and compete for the job, they would

         12  have to be in a position to understand and accept

         13  the terms and conditions, if you will, of

         14  employment. So, I just wanted that to be clear.

         15                 That is the one area of testimony

         16  that we also thought was a problem, but I believe we

         17  have handled it.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: Well, I

         19  can just say that may be your --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: It is not a

         21  question.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: Well,

         23  you interrupted me several times.

         24                 That may be your intent, but clearly

         25  the language of the bill would be open to other
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          2  interpretations. I understand your comments, but I

          3  think based on civil service laws and regulations it

          4  would be extremely hard to limit it to the 18 months

          5  --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Well, we

          7  don't. So we have a disagreement there. But that is

          8  a reasonable disagreement, because I am telling you

          9  that we agree on that one isolated issue, and

         10  whatever language it takes in order to ensure that

         11  will be in the final product. And it could not be

         12  more clear that -- for example, if that were the

         13  only basis of opposition, we would spend the next

         14  six days together figuring it out. Since no matter

         15  what we do, and if we make it crystal clear and we

         16  solve that problem, you are going to still totally

         17  oppose the bill, we won't do that, but you should

         18  just leave here knowing that that is a non-issue for

         19  us. I have authored the bill, we have co-sponsors

         20  here, and the record could not be made more clear

         21  that someone who qualifies and then competes for one

         22  of these jobs and that obtains one of these jobs,

         23  and has it for 18 months or the possible six months

         24  extension, and does not have the ability to stay in

         25  that job. It is a real job, but it is a transitional
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          2  job. And during the 18 months or 24, sometimes

          3  during or by the end, we believe they will be better

          4  equipped to get a permanent real job, in both cases

          5  emphasis on the word real.

          6                 So, I just want to assure you that

          7  that issue will be solved.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: Well, I

          9  think what you are pointing out --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: You should be

         11  happy that we agree on that one.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: I am

         13  happy to hear your intent, but I think what you are

         14  pointing up is the difficulty of using government

         15  employment for this type of transitional job.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I am just

         17  pointing out the fact that that area has been -- we

         18  have thought of it, we will solve it, and I believe

         19  we have solved it and we will continue to work on

         20  solving it.

         21                 Let me just ask you three or four

         22  quick questions.

         23                 Are you aware, do you have any

         24  experience, knowledge or exposure to the

         25  Pennsylvania plan of Republican Governor Ridge to
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          2  create 16 transitional jobs as part of his 1999/2000

          3  budget proposal?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: No, I am

          5  not familiar with the details of that.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: You don't have

          7  to be, because I know you work here in New York, but

          8  I am just wondering if you have familiarity with or

          9  any knowledge of or review of the Wisconsin move on

         10  job creation designed by Republican Governor Tommy

         11  Thompson requesting that local agencies be given the

         12  authority to create wage-paying jobs a part of

         13  Wisconsin Works?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: No, I am

         15  not familiar with that.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Are you at all

         17  familiar with the recent successful campaign in

         18  support of democratic Assemblyman Roberto Ramirez'

         19  Empire State Jobs Bill, which Governor Pataki, as a

         20  result of which Governor Pataki signed into law a

         21  pilot transitional jobs program at the end of the

         22  last budget?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: That I

         24  am aware of and that is actually one of the reasons,

         25  if I could just say that I think that we should also
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          2  oppose this legislation. We have a bill that is

          3  going to mandate, I don't know the exact number but

          4  --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Just so you

          6  know, they didn't do it by number, they did it by

          7  dollars. I believe they agreed to spend $12 million

          8  on --

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: That --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: -- That

         11  translates a certain number of jobs.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: Right.

         13  So that legislation, on top of this legislation

         14  would clearly send the program in the wrong

         15  direction.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Did the Mayor

         17  oppose that legislation?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: I don't

         19  know.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Did HRA oppose

         21  that legislation in Albany?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: I don't

         23  know that we took a position on it.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I see, okay.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Steve, could I
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          2  just ask a question on that one point?

          3                 This bill I think was out before,

          4  predated the $12 million being allocated in Albany,

          5  right?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: The bill was

          7  out before the last hearing that we actually had

          8  Assemblyman Ramirez present both comments on his own

          9  bill and in support of ours.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: So based on

         11  kind of what you are saying, Commissioner, that we

         12  are being duplicative, which I would disagree with,

         13  but based on your saying that, I assume then the

         14  Administration supported the Chair's bill prior to

         15  the State's allocation of $12 million, because then

         16  we wouldn't have had anything.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: We are

         18  against both pieces of legislation. All I am saying

         19  is the fact that one passed is an additional

         20  argument against it.

         21                 And the fact of what is going on in

         22  the rest of the country I don't think is necessarily

         23  relevant to New York.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: No problem.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND:  The
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          2  rest of the country, for example, has full family

          3  sanctions, has two-year time limits. I don't know

          4  that you would be advocating those because Wisconsin

          5  and some of the other states have been. And also the

          6  transitional employment programs that exist in most

          7  of the rest of the country are not analogous to what

          8  exists here. There are shorter term, more to provide

          9  subsidies to existing jobs, not to create new jobs.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Actually, your

         11  first comment, obviously states and cities have

         12  different rules as it relates to the underlying

         13  welfare program, the last comment you will find if

         14  you review the material is not quite accurate.

         15                 Anyway, do you have any other

         16  familiarity with the various programs, transitional

         17  programs being either implemented or contemplated in

         18  Baltimore, Seattle, Detroit, Vermont,  San Francisco

         19  or Ohio?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: No, only

         21  to the extent that as I say, you selectively pick

         22  from other states --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I selectively

         24  picked Pennsylvania, Wisconsin, New York State,

         25  Baltimore, Seattle, Detroit, Vermont, San Francisco,
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          2  Ohio, those are the only ones we could research and

          3  find. And if there are other cities and states

          4  jumping on the transitional bandwagon, transitional

          5  jobs bandwagon, then we will report those at the

          6  next hearing.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: No, not

          8  the programs you picked. You picked the aspects of

          9  the program in those states that you like.

         10                 For example, are you advocating --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: No, I am not

         12  advocating anything else that any other state does.

         13                 You are right, I have only looked at

         14  those states for the purposes of transitional jobs

         15  bill because that is the only piece of legislation

         16  that we are contemplating.

         17                 The last question: Publicly funded

         18  transitional jobs for the hard to employ. Are you

         19  familiar with the US, Bipartisan US Conference of

         20  Mayors Resolution that was approved in June of '99?

         21  I read the essence of the resolution into the record

         22  already. In relevant part they resolve that the US

         23  Conference of Mayors urges federal, state, and

         24  county governments to work collaboratively with City

         25  officials to development, implement and expand

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            80

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  innovative programs that create publicly funded

          3  transitional jobs for welfare recipients and other

          4  hard-to-employ individuals, and further resolve that

          5  the US Conference of Mayors supports development of

          6  publicly funded transitional jobs through

          7  partnerships with other organizations, through

          8  providing technical assistance to individual cities

          9  interesting in pursuing such strategies.

         10                 And if you are not familiar with this

         11  one, we have extra copies.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: Thank

         13  you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Are you

         15  familiar with it?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: I am not

         17  familiar with that.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: But what

         20  is contemplated by that and some of the others is a

         21  shorter term, more focused type of program than the

         22  one you have here.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I am going to

         24  close here, but do you see how inappropriate that

         25  comment is? You are not familiar with this
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          2  particular aspect of these cities and states, nor

          3  this resolution, and I read the entire conclusion,

          4  and then you think you can sit there with some kind

          5  of authority and say but that is for shorter time

          6  periods. They didn't talk about time periods, they

          7  didn't talk. All they talked about was encouraging

          8  publicly funded transitional jobs from welfare

          9  recipients and other hard-to-employ individuals. And

         10  let me tell you, this does not thwart welfare

         11  reform, this does not set back welfare reform, this,

         12  in cities and states across this country and

         13  hopefully in New York City, is the next step in

         14  welfare reform. This will move people from welfare

         15  to work, not welfare to workfare, which is what your

         16  administration is good at.

         17                 Are there any other questions?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA:

         20                 Council Member Quinn has a couple and

         21  then we will wrap up.

         22                 Quiet, please.

         23                 Council Member Quinn, do you have a

         24  question or two?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Yes, I do.
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          2                 In the Mayor's press release, not in

          3  your statement, in the press release. Do you have

          4  that?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: I don't,

          6  no.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Do you want it?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: We have

          9  a copy.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: You have a copy

         11  there, okay.

         12                 In the first paragraph, the second

         13  sentence, this bill being considered, bla bla bla,

         14  would create a transitional employment program that

         15  requires the City to create at least 10,000 new jobs

         16  subsidized by the taxpayers of the City of New York.

         17                 The 10,000 people who would get the

         18  jobs in question, won't they be taxpayers?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: Sure

         20  they would be taxpayers, but the point is --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Just hang on

         22  one second, Commissioner.

         23                 So, this though I think makes it

         24  sound like people are getting a free ride subsidized

         25  by, exclusively by their neighbors, when in fact
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          2  these people, 10,000 people in question, would not

          3  only be subsidizing, to use that word, though I

          4  wouldn't necessarily, but subsidizing all of the

          5  10,000 jobs (a), but (b) would be a bonus to the

          6  City because they would become taxpayers. Or am I

          7  wrong? Are they not full-fledged taxpayers? And will

          8  somehow their taxes, if they are in fact taxpayers,

          9  be diverted away from subsidizing -- from helping to

         10  fund, I prefer to say, the transitional job program?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: There

         12  would obviously be taxpayers under the bill, but the

         13  point is the way to place people in jobs is not in

         14  government jobs which increases the cost of the

         15  government, but in the private sector, where jobs

         16  have been created and where jobs exist and where a

         17  future job exists. Government employment is not the

         18  future, and you talked about trends across the

         19  country, clearly government employment is on the

         20  downward trend across the country, and for us to

         21  increase it at this scale would send the wrong

         22  message and the wrong approach.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I just want to

         24  make two quick statements. One first is a question.

         25                 Given the Administration's I guess
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          2  deep concern about placing people in private sector

          3  jobs, not in government jobs, I would assume then

          4  that the Administration would want to keep as many

          5  non-government jobs in the City as possible. Towards

          6  that end, and I guess you may not be able to answer

          7  this, but I ask you to take it back to the Mayor's

          8  Office, the Council will be having a hearing

          9  regarding Bell Atlantic's move to move 500 jobs out

         10  of the City, including 220 out of my district. It

         11  would be great to have the administration give their

         12  tremendous commitment to the need for public sector

         13  jobs to come to that hearing and express the very

         14  same position about need for non-government jobs at

         15  that hearing.

         16                 Do you know whether the Mayor has

         17  taken a position with regards to the loss of those

         18  jobs? How many of those are low-skilled jobs,

         19  Commissioner?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: I don't

         21  have those figures. But if you  look --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: So then -- then

         23  the number then, though helpful and thank you very

         24  much for it, is not necessarily applicable to the

         25  population in question. So you may have created a
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          2  lot of jobs which would be great for people with

          3  MBAs or college degrees or, you know, people who can

          4  do a lot more computer work than I can, but we don't

          5  know they are in fact applicable to the universe of

          6  people that we are talking about; is that correct?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: But it

          8  is clear there are substantial vacancies --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Is that

         10  correct?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: I don't

         12  know how many of the 300,000 are entry level, but it

         13  is clear also that there are substantial vacancies

         14  in the entry level market.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Why is that

         16  clear? Why is that clear?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: If you

         18  look, for example, at the New York Times yesterday,

         19  there was an article about entry level retail

         20  vacancies, how stores are having difficulty filling

         21  those --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: For the

         23  holidays. Those were not permanent jobs, those were

         24  holiday jobs.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: But that
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          2  is a first step towards employment, and it said in

          3  the article that many of those jobs allow people to

          4  stay after the holidays. That is only one example.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Well, what are

          6  the others? Are you basing your entire statement to

          7  me on an article in yesterday's New York Times? No

          8  disrespect to the press, but is that what you are

          9  basing your position on?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: No, as I

         11  said that is an example of --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Except,

         13  Commissioner, look at the statistics. Forty-thousand

         14  on average or better, entry level job seekers,

         15  between welfare recipients and recently unemployed

         16  in any given time period, 25,000 on average entry

         17  level jobs created.

         18                 There is a gap, it is well

         19  documented, and you don't have to agree with the

         20  philosophy, but the notion that these are not entry

         21  level jobs created at a time when we need entry

         22  level jobs to give people, you know, the chance to

         23  leave welfare and work, for a period of time and

         24  better equip them to get permanent jobs, flies in

         25  the face of what is happening in cities and states
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          2  across the country.

          3                 You may think that you can do it the

          4  way you are doing it and so far you have, we think

          5  this is the next step.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: And just one

          7  last thing I wanted to say, is that in your

          8  testimony, as Chairman DiBrienza mentioned, the way

          9  you kind of describe the job comes off as, you know,

         10  for unnecessary jobs, and I just wanted to state for

         11  the record that if you look at some of the agencies

         12  in this city and some of their functions; for

         13  example, if you look within the Department of

         14  Housing Preservation and Development, we now have

         15  less Housing Code inspectors than we had during the

         16  fiscal crisis of the seventies. So, I say that to

         17  say that if you look in the government right now,

         18  there are positions which are critically important,

         19  which we need more people in, which would in no way

         20  be feather-bedding.

         21                 So, I just want to say that I would

         22  urge you to go back and look and see whether there

         23  are in fact places in HPD, you know, wherever you

         24  have in fact made a mistake in saying you couldn't

         25  use more people.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: And if

          4  there is a real vacancy and a real job, we want --

          5  if a public assistance recipient is qualified, them

          6  to apply for a job and get that job, and that is the

          7  position as I have said in the testimony.

          8                 What we don't want is to add new jobs

          9  that are unnecessary on top of that.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         11                 We understand your position quite

         12  well, and I think that many of us believe the

         13  creation of 10,000 transitional jobs over five years

         14  at a net cost of about $20 million more than funding

         15  the same number of people in WEP is a good use of

         16  our resources, provides for meaningful employment in

         17  the public and private, not-for-profit private

         18  sector, creates a situation where thousands upon

         19  upwards of 10,000 people could leave the rolls and

         20  earn paychecks, not welfare checks, mirrors what is

         21  happening in many states and cities across this

         22  country, reflects the desire of the Bipartisan US

         23  Conference of Mayors representing Mayors throughout

         24  this country, and in fact ultimately moves people

         25  from welfare to work as opposed to from welfare to
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          2  workfare.

          3                 We disagree about that, and that is

          4  not uncommon. We disagree about a lot, but in this

          5  case, this is such a tangible, logical, definitive

          6  piece of legislation that rather than argue, which

          7  we do often about the philosophy and the execution

          8  of the program and how you treat the people and who

          9  is mean and who is not, we don't have to do any of

         10  that, and that is why the hearing will be ending in

         11  a minute. We don't have to do any of that because we

         12  are now in the arena of facts and figures and law

         13  and trends that exist and models that exist, and it

         14  is one of the most substantial pieces of legislation

         15  that this Committee I think could have come up with,

         16  and hopefully with whatever additional

         17  clarifications the lawyers can make and the

         18  continued support of the leadership of this Council

         19  it will be back before this Committee for passage,

         20  it will be in front of the full Council for passage,

         21  it will reach the Mayor's desk, and we know his

         22  reasons for opposing it. Presumably no matter what

         23  we do on the legislation itself, that opposition

         24  won't change and it will go through the legislative

         25  process.
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          2                 Council Member Henry would like the

          3  last word.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: Can I

          5  just add, the $20 million figure you cited, because

          6  our costs are substantially higher --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I am sorry,

          8  the Council Member first.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY: Yes, thank you,

         10  Mr. Chairman.

         11                 Commissioner, using your own argument

         12  against you that, you know, people should be looking

         13  elsewhere, especially to the private sectors for

         14  jobs, my question to you and to the Administration

         15  is this: What is the Administration currently doing

         16  to encourage job growth and creation in the private

         17  sector?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: Well, we

         19  have a substantial program both to assist public

         20  assistance recipients to find private sector jobs,

         21  which I can speak knowledgeably about, and there is

         22  also a great effort to encourage the development of

         23  private sector jobs. That is not my area, I am less

         24  familiar. But certainly we want public assistance

         25  recipients to move into the private sector before
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          2  any public assistance recipient begins participation

          3  in the Work Experience Program. We encourage them

          4  and work with them to try and find a private sector

          5  job.

          6                 On top of that the Mayor's whole

          7  philosophy has been designed to encourage private

          8  sector employment. That is why we need to keep

          9  government expenses low and taxes low so that we

         10  create a good business environment.

         11                 This bill would force us to raise

         12  taxes possibly, but certainly spend more money,

         13  government money, which does the opposite and

         14  creates a bad and hostile business environment.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY: The other

         16  question, follow-up question, is what type of jobs

         17  are available in the private sector, and if the

         18  present workforce is adequately skilled in order to

         19  move into those jobs, because then it raises the

         20  whole question of preparing and equipping those

         21  people to move into those jobs, job training, for

         22  example.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: Some

         24  people are ready to move right into those jobs, and

         25  we, as I said before, that is our first option, we
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          2  would be happy if everyone could move into jobs.

          3                 For those who can't move directly

          4  into employment we have a program involving work,

          5  involving training, involving job search, involving

          6  education, that will prepare them. We believe that

          7  is the right way to do welfare reform, not just the

          8  way the legislation contemplates.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         10  And, Commissioner, just two things so we can clarify

         11  again the record. You do understand, I take it, that

         12  this program, transitional jobs program, does not

         13  replace or end the Work Experience Program in any

         14  way, there is no connection in the law?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: No, I

         16  understand that.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Number one.

         18                 Number two, you do realize that it

         19  takes over the five-year period to reach the full

         20  10,000 jobs, that is to say not 10,000 on day one.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: Well,

         22  that I don't think is clear at all, and I think if

         23  you read the legislation you can fairly read it to

         24  require 10,000 per year every year.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: No, you might
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          2  but --

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: I think

          4  if you intend it to be differently, then the

          5  legislation needs to be changed.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Well, again,

          7  we certainly don't mind clarifying further anything

          8  you have misinterpreted or misread or misunderstood,

          9  but I don't know how else to tell you, except watch

         10  me say it, it is designed to do 10,000 over five

         11  years, you do them in steps from the first year to

         12  the second to the third to the fourth to the fifth,

         13  at the end of five years you have hit 10,000. That

         14  is clearly how it is written and how it is intended

         15  and how everyone has testified to it.

         16                 So, again, if we have helped clarify

         17  two issues, then we have accomplished something

         18  today, because those are bonafide questions, and the

         19  rest we understand. You don't philosophically agree

         20  with what is happening in many cities and states

         21  across this country to move hard to employ

         22  recipients from welfare to work, not just from

         23  welfare to workfare, through transitional jobs

         24  programs.

         25                 And as far as the cost, remember that
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          2  you guys have come up with a number, either because

          3  from day one you thought it was 10,000 jobs and it

          4  will get there anyway eventually, or because you

          5  have added up the cost of each year at 10,000 which

          6  is just again a mistake. But more importantly, you

          7  have probably taken the full course into

          8  consideration without the savings from the 10,000

          9  people who are not in WEP and/or use of some of the

         10  funding streams, and the earned income tax credits.

         11                 Council Member Perkins has a

         12  question.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: Well, we

         14  did take into account some of the savings, the grant

         15  savings and the tax savings and that is the

         16  difference between the two numbers, I said the 394

         17  and 343.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Right.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND:  But

         20  with the bill as it is written, still seems to

         21  contemplate 10,000 jobs each year.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Well, you can

         23  say that, but I just told you that is not the case.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: Well, I

         25  am reading the bill. Your statements are not what is

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            95

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  in the bill. I think you need to change the bill, if

          3  that is what you feel.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: No problem,

          5  because the clear intent is to do it over five

          6  years, so that becomes a moot point and the costs

          7  associated are approximately 20 million over the

          8  five years more than funding the same number of

          9  files.

         10                 Council Member Perkins.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: You have

         12  something called the TEAP Program?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: That's

         14  correct.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: You have

         16  approximately 4,000 participants?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND:

         18  Fourteen-hundred.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:

         20  Fourteen-hundred participants, 250 monthly.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: That is

         22  roughly right, yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: That looks

         24  like over a six-month period that is about $8

         25  million a year?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: I

          3  haven't done the math, but I trust your numbers, if

          4  you just did the math.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Eight-million

          6  a year, five years, that's 40 million.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: There is

          8  a difference between the TEAP program -- I haven't

          9  done the math so I can't comment.

         10                 But the TEAP program subsidized

         11  existing positions, it is a clear transitional

         12  program and that it is short term, designed to

         13  provide people just with a brief work experience and

         14  move them on to the private sector, not keep them

         15  for long term in a government job.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I am just

         17  looking at the cost based on the numbers that you

         18  gave me. It looked like about 40 million.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: That

         20  sounds high. That sounds very high.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Do you know

         22  better?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: I don't

         24  here because we haven't calculated it.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay, let me
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          2  ask you, you are obviously very proud of this TEAP

          3  Program, and bragging about many cases where

          4  employees remain after the six-month period.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Do you have

          7  any numbers in that regard?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: Not with

          9  me, no. But we can get those.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: Okay.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Do you think

         13  it is half of the people that participate remain?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: I don't

         15  want to speculate, but again, the point is that

         16  those were existing jobs, not new jobs that were

         17  created by government funding.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I accept your

         19  statement that maybe they were existing, it is just

         20  that you seem to be bragging about the fact that

         21  existing jobs are being used, and people are staying

         22  for long periods of time, much longer than the

         23  six-month period.

         24                 And it would seem to me that it would

         25  make your case better if it is in fact the truth for
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          2  you to be able to support that and not having that

          3  here makes it kind if disingenuous.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: Well, we

          5  can certainly get you those numbers.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: All right.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND: Thank

         10  you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you,

         12  Commissioner.

         13                 We are going to have to wrap up. As I

         14  said, it wasn't clear if we would be able to take

         15  unscheduled witnesses, I apologize to any who were

         16  interested.

         17                 Let me just make clear that the

         18  intent of this legislation is to create over five

         19  years 10,000 jobs and a step basis year to year.

         20                 Let me make clear that the costs are

         21  net costs, as I said several times, of about $20

         22  million over the five years for funding the same

         23  number of slots, that would have required funding

         24  the same number of slots -- quiet, please -- in the

         25  Work Experience Program.
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          2                 Let me make it clear that substantial

          3  documentation exists or suggests that at any given

          4  year 40,000, upwards of 40,000 people are looking

          5  for entry level jobs when there are 25,000 on

          6  average created.

          7                 Let me make it clear that the states

          8  of Pennsylvania, Wisconsin, New York; cities,

          9  Baltimore, Seattle, Detroit, State of Vermont, City

         10  of San Francisco, State of Ohio, all moving towards

         11  transitional job models.

         12                 The Bipartisan US Conference of

         13  Mayors officially endorsing this kind of program.

         14  The creation of entry level jobs by use of existing

         15  funds to move people from welfare to work is not

         16  about government dependency, it is about the cutting

         17  edge innovative approaches that people are using who

         18  are not locked in to simply reducing the rolls or

         19  moving people from welfare to workfare, but those

         20  who are interested employing people, moving them

         21  from welfare to work.

         22                 This Committee intends to continue to

         23  perfect the legislation, offer it to the Committee,

         24  the Council and the Mayor as soon as it is

         25  practicable.
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          2                 Thank you all very much for your

          3  participation.

          4                 Meeting adjourned.

          5                 (Hearing concluded at 12:15 p.m.)
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